0-15-

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JAMES J. WOLF,

Petitioner,

vs.

CASE NO. 88,146

COUNTY OF VOLUSIA,

Respondent.

_____ /

FILED

SID J. WHITE

JUN 8 1996

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By _____
Chief Deputy Clerk

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

KIRK N. KIRKCONNELL of
KIRKCONNELL, LINDSEY,
SNURE & HENSON, P.A.
1150 Louisiana Avenue, Suite 1
P.O. Box 2728
Winter Park, FL 32790-2728
Florida Bar No. 111988

DAVID A. **HENSON** of
KIRKCONNELL, LINDSEY,
SNURE & HENSON, P.A.
1150 Louisiana Avenue, Suite 1
P.O. Box 2728
Winter Park, FL 32790-2728
Florida Bar No. 330620

Attorneys for **Petitioner**

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Discretionary review of the case sub iudice is appropriate and warranted in that even though the instant case raises the same legal issue ruled upon by the First and Second District Courts of Appeal in cases such as Dinauer v. State, 317 So.2d 792 (Fla. 1st DCA 1975); Powell v. State, 314 So.2d 788 (Fla. 2d DCA 1975); and Clark v. State, 570 So.2d 408 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990) -- and involves substantially the same controlling facts as the aforementioned cases -- the Court below has issued an opinion producing a vastly different result. Accordingly, this Court should accept discretionary review pursuant to Article V, § 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution, and Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv).

ARGUMENT

WHETHER THE DECISION OF THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN THE CASE **SUB JUDICE** IS IN EXPRESS AND DIRECT CONFLICT WITH OTHER DISTRICT COURT DECISIONS SUCH AS POWELL V. STATE, 314 **So.2d** 788 (FLA. 2d DCA 1975); CLARK V. STATE, 570 **SO.2d** 408 (FLA. 2D DCA 1990); AND DINAUER V. STATE, 317 **SO.2d** 792 (FLA. **1ST** DCA 1975) -- ON THE SAME QUESTION OF LAW -- THEREBY PERMITTING THIS COURT TO EXERCISE ITS DISCRETIONARY REVIEW JURISDICTION PURSUANT TO ARTICLE V, § 3 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION AND FLORIDA RULE OF APPELLATE PROCEDURE **9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv)**.

Petitioner Wolf submits that the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal in the instant case applies a rule of law to produce a different result than the results reached by the **First** and Second District Courts of Appeal, on substantially the same controlling facts, in the cases of Dinauer v. State, 317 **So.2d** 792 (Fla. 1st DCA 1975) (Appendix 6); Powell v. State, 314 **So.2d** 788 (Fla. 2d DCA 1975) (Appendix 7); and Clark v. State, 570 **So.2d** 408 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990) (Appendix 8).

The question of law shared by the case **sub iudice** and the aforementioned cases of Dinauer, supra; Powell, **supra**; and Clark, supra; is whether reasonable, necessary, and useful expenditures on matters such as expert witness and service fees, and court reporter and transcription expenses can be recovered as legally taxable costs by an acquitted citizen under **Fla. Stat. § 939.06**. In Dinauer, supra, for example, the First District reversed a trial judge for disallowing deposition costs following the entry of a Nolle Prosequi. In Powell, supra, the Second District plainly held that expert witness fees and deposition costs were taxable under **§ 939.06** so long as the sums were reasonable and the depositions and expert testimony served a useful defensive purpose. Similarly, in

Clark, supra, the Second District treated, inter alia, deposition costs incurred prior to the entry of a **Nolle Prosequi** as legally taxable costs. However, in the instant appeal, the Fifth District reversed the lower court **for** awarding Mr. Wolf as taxable costs admittedly reasonable and necessary sums he spent on, inter alia, expert witness and service fees, as well as court reporter and transcription expenses. And, while the instant appeal happens to also involve several categories of expenditures not seen in Dinauer, supra; Powell, supra; or Clark, supra (such as video deposition expenses, private process server expenses, and copy and duplicate expenses) -- those cases nevertheless present substantially the same controlling facts as involved in the present appeal of Mr. Wolf's -- yet an entirely different result was reached by the First and Second District Courts of Appeal'

The Fifth District's March 22, 1996 decision (Appendix 3) denying Mr. Wolf the ability to obtain reimbursement for reasonable and necessary costs which have routinely been awarded to acquitted citizens, throughout the State of Florida, for at least the last twenty (20) years under § 939.06 is not based on any legislative overhaul or amendment of the statute. Instead, the Fifth District's March 22, 1996 decision is explicitly hinged on Volusia

¹ Although this Court's discretionary jurisdiction is not based on the existence of intra-district conflict, it warrants mention that prior to issuing its decisions in Volusia County, Florida v. Carrin, 666 **So.2d** 603 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996) (Appendix 4) and the appeal sub judice, the Fifth District had likewise had uniformly held that court reporter and deposition expenses were taxable costs under § 939.06 if reasonable and necessary. See, Haves v. State, 387 **So.2d** 539 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980); Osceola County v. Otte, 530 **So.2d** 478 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988).

County. Florida v. Carrin, supra (Appendix 4), which, in turn, is explicitly hinged on the single-issue case of Board of County Commissioners v. Sawyer, supra (Appendix 5), wherein this Court held, in June of 1993, that investigative costs were not taxable under § 939.06. From its decisions in Carrin, supra, and in Mr. Wolf's appeal, it is apparent that the Fifth District Court of Appeal has adopted a radically different view of what is a legally taxable cost under § 939.06 than the **caselaw** precedent out of the First and Second Districts because the Fifth District has subscribed to Volusia County's claim that this Court in Sawyer, supra silently overruled cases such as Dinauer, supra; e l l, supra; Clark, supra; Hayes, supra; and Osceola County v. Otte, supra.

Since the controlling facts in the case sub iudice are far too close to the controlling facts in Dinauer, supra; Powell, supra; and Clark, supra; to reasonably produce or justify such different results; and since only this Court is in a position to definitively speak toward whether it intended for its decision in Sawyer, supra to be viewed as drastically changing and restricting the ability of the acquitted citizen to obtain any meaningful degree of reimbursement -- this case is clearly appropriate for review under this Court's discretionary jurisdiction.