# ORIGINAL



IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

B 12 JAM W V E JUN 2 G 1996 CLEFRN, Starfford Const By \_\_\_\_\_ Chef Party Clerk

JAMES J. WOLF,

Petitioner,

vs.

CASE NO.: 88,146

COUNTY OF VOLUSIA,

Respondent.

## **RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION**

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of the Seventh Judicial Circuit in and for Volusia County, Florida and Fifth District Appellate Court of Florida.

KELLY A. GREENE, ESQ. ASSISTANT COUNTY ATTORNEY FLA. BAR NO.: 612448 123 W. INDIANA AVENUE DELAND, FL 32720-4613 904-736-5950 ATTORNEY FOR COUNTY OF VOLUSIA

#

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent adopts the statement of the case and facts as presented by Petitioner.

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

deny the Petitioner's request for This court should discretionary review. Discretionary review pursuant to Article V §3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution and the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a) (2) (A)(iv) is strictly limited to decisions of the district court that expressly and directly conflict with a decision of another district court of appeal or of the supreme court on the same question of law. Art. V, Sect. 3(b)(3), Fla. Const. The decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal in County of Volusia v. Wolf, Case No. 95-1773, Fifth District Court of Appeals dated March 22, 1996, (Appendix 1), did not expressly or directly conflict with another district court decision but merely cited a prior written opinion with a per curiam decision as authority. As the decision does not expressly and directly conflict with a decision of another district or of the supreme court, discretionary review should be denied.

#### ARGUMENT

Jurisdiction of the Supreme Court to review decisions of the district courts of appeal was strictly limited by the 1980 amendment to the Florida constitution. Jenkins v. State of Florida, 385 So.2d 1356 (Fla. 1980) (Appendix 9). Discretionary review is granted only if the decision of the district court expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal or of the supreme court on the same question of law. Art. V 3(b)(3) Fla. Const. (1980) and Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv). Unless the petitioner can demonstrate that the decision expressly or directly conflicts with another decision, discretionary review should be denied.

In the instant matter, Petitioner seeks review of the Fifth District Court of Appeal decision in <u>County of Volusia v. Wolf</u> Case No. 95-1773, Fifth District Court of Appeals dated March 22, 1996 (Appendix 1). That decision reversed a trial court's award of taxable costs pursuant to F.S. 939.06 of \$16,280.43 to Petitioner. The Wolf case however did not express a direct conflict with other district court decisions such as <u>Clark v. State</u>, 570 So.2d 408 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990) (Appendix 8), <u>Dinauer v. State</u>, 317 So.2d 794 (Fla. 1st DCA 1973) (Appendix 6) and <u>Powell v. State</u>, 314 So.2d 788 (Fla. 2d DCA 1975) (Appendix 7). Instead, the <u>Wolf</u> decision, which was a per curiam decision, cited one of its own prior written opinions <u>Volusia County v. Card</u>, 666 So.2d 603 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996) (Appendix 2) as authority. In the <u>Wolf</u> case, the district court also stated that the Petitioner himself had conceded that

this matter was virtually identical to the <u>Carrin</u> case. In the instant matter, the Petitioner having conceded there was no distinction between the two cases, allowed the district court to rule consistently by having the Wolf decision agree with the earlier <u>Carrin</u> decision.

In seeking to have Wolf reviewed, Petitioner seeks review of a limited, per curiam decision that merely affirmed a previous written opinion of the district court. Discretionary review is not appropriate to determine whether a prior written opinion now cited for authority is in conflict with other appellate decisions. Dodi Publishin Company v. Editorial America, S.A., 385 So.2d 1369 (Fla. 1980) (Appendix 10). In the Dodi case, the Petitioner requested review of a decision that in totality stated "PER CURIAM. Affirmed. See Consolidated Electric Supply, Inc. v. Consolidated Electrical Distributors Southeast. Inc., 355 So.2d 853 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978)." Dodi 385 So.2d at 1369. The decision of the Fifth District in this matter, although more verbose, essentially directed the parties to the Carrin case as a basis for its ruling without drawing an express and direct conflict with other district court decisions. Since the decision does not expressly and directly express a conflict with other decisions, discretionary review should be denied.

The Respondent is aware that it is not necessary that a district court explicitly identify a conflicting district court order or supreme court decision in its opinion in order to create an express conflict under Article V. Section 3(b)(3). Fla. Const.

Ford Motor Company V. Kikis, 401 So.2d 1341, 1342 (Fla. 1981) (Appendix 11). However, the court decision must discuss the basis upon which it reversed the trial court's entry of a directed verdict in order for the Petitioner to state that an express and direct conflict exists. Id at 1342. The Fifth District Court, in the instant matter, similar to the district court in <u>Dodi</u>, relying on its earlier opinion pointed to the <u>Carrin</u> case for any explanation of its decision. Having failed to discuss the basis for its opinion other than to point out a prior opinion, it is difficult to state that an express and direct conflict exists. Therefore discretionary review should be denied.

The cases cited by the Petitioner are not good examples of an express and direct conflict. See Petitioner's Jurisdictional Brief, p. 5-6. In <u>Powell v. State</u>, 314 So.2d 788 (Fla. 2 DCA 1975) the court awarded expert witness fees on the basis of a faulty mutuality doctrine stating that since under F.S. 914.06, the County could tax the reasonable costs of expert witnesses against a convicted felon, the court believed an acquitted, non-indigent defendant could do likewise against the County. Id at 788. Thus, it was not just the construction of F.S. 939.06 alone but rather a combination of F.S. 914.06 and F.S. 939.06 which were the issues in that case.

In addition, the <u>Powell</u> case and <u>Dinauer v. State</u>, 317 So.2d 1369 (Fla. 1980) (Appendix 6), are twenty years old. The <u>Powell</u> decision was governed by a general policy which prohibited the

imposition upon an acquitted Defendant of any cost or fees of the court. Powell v. State, 314 So.2d at 789 (Appendix 7). The Dinauer decision relied in part on Warren v. Capuano, 282 So.2d 873 (Fla. 4th DCA 1972) (Fla. 1973) (Appendix 4). The Clark decision is now six years old and based its findings on W a r r e n , 282 So.2d 873 (Fla. 1973) (Appendix 4). All of these decisions were written without the benefit of the Board of County Commissioners, Pinellas County v. Sawer, 620 So.2d 757 (Fla. 1993) (Appendix 3) in which this court expressly receded from the prior Warren decision and from Lillibridge v. City of Miami, 276 So.2d 40 (Fla. 1973) (Appendix 5). This court has stated that the expansive view of F.S. 939.06 as found in <u>Warren</u> and <u>Lillibridge</u> is no longer good It is not so much that the Fifth District Court of Appeals law. decision in <u>Wolf</u> is in conflict with the other courts, it is simply that the Fifth District is the first district court to apply the specific and plain meaning of the Sawyer decision and the other district courts have yet to catch up to the Fifth District's lead.

### CONCLUSION

The decision of the Fifth District did not expressly and directly raise a conflict with other district court opinions. The Fifth District neither stated a direct conflict nor did it discuss the basis for its ruling providing no basis for an inference of a conflict. Rather, the Fifth District's decision cited an earlier written opinion of the district as the basis for its ruling. Failing to state or refer to an express or direct conflict with another district court's decision, the discretionary review of the Supreme Court pursuant to Article 5,  $3(b)(3)_{\rm I}$  should not be granted.